No. S199384

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MAY 1 4 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

APPLE INC., a California corporation,

Petitioner,

VS.

### SUPERIOR COURT OF THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent;

### DAVID KRESCENT,

individually and on behalf of a class of persons similarly situated,

Real Party in Interest.

Court of Appeal Case No. B238097 Los Angeles Superior Court Civil Case No. BC463305 The Honorable Carl J. West, Presiding

### APPLE INC.'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

### I. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does Civil Code section 1747.08 of the Song-Beverly Credit Card Act of 1971, which prohibits retailers from recording a customer's personal identification information as a condition of accepting a credit card payment, apply to online commercial transactions?

#### II. INTRODUCTION

This action raises a fundamental question of statutory construction: Whether the courts should apply a carefully balanced legislative policy embodied in a statute to a type of transaction that neither existed nor was contemplated by the Legislature at the time of the statute's enactment, where that transaction raises significantly different policy judgments than those considered by the Legislature. Logically, application of the statute to such an unanticipated transaction of an inherently different nature could not possibly effectuate the Legislature's intent. And in this case, because the delicate policy balance embodied in the statute is incapable of being applied to the unanticipated transactions and because the statutory language is incompatible with such transactions, Petitioner Apple Inc. submits that the Legislature, not the courts, should determine the proper policy to apply to such transactions in the first instance.

Civil Code section 1747.08¹ of the Song-Beverly Credit Card Act (the "Song-Beverly Act") (§ 1747 et seq.) prohibits merchants from requesting and recording credit cardholders' "personal identification information," including their addresses, in order to complete credit card transactions.

Recently, in *Pineda v. Williams-Sonoma Stores, Inc.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 524, 531 (*Pineda*), this Court ruled that "personal identification information" includes "not only a complete address, but also its components," including a ZIP code.

In the wake of *Pineda*, more than 150 class action lawsuits were filed in California against retailers that collected ZIP codes and other personal identification information. (Assem. Com. on Banking and Finance, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 1219 (2011-2012 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 25, 2011, p. 3.)<sup>2</sup> However, the vast majority of those cases, like *Pineda*, deal with brick-and-mortar retailers, which have the right and ability to require that the customer present "reasonable forms of positive identification," such as a driver's license, as a condition to accepting the credit card payment, and thereby verify the cardholder's identity. (§ 1747.08, subd. (d).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless specified otherwise, all further statutory references are to the Civil Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All citations to relevant legislative history in this brief are attached to Apple's accompanying Request for Judicial Notice.

In this case, however, plaintiff is attempting to stretch the Song-Beverly Act to cover transactions that were never contemplated and did not exist when the Act or section 1747.08 was enacted—online commercial transactions over the Internet.

Because the statute's text, legislative history, and purpose reflect that the Legislature did not intend to apply the Act to online transactions—where an e-retailer does *not* have the ability to exercise its right to inspect a credit card or photo identification as a condition to accepting the credit card—plaintiff's section 1747.08 claim must fail as a matter of law, and the trial court should have dismissed it at the pleading stage.

The trial court, however, indicated that it was unwilling "at the pleading stage, to read the Act as completely exempting online credit transactions from its reach" and overruled Apple's demurrer. (Exh. 30 at p. 579 in Pet.'s Exhibits in Support of Writ Petition (hereinafter referred to as "Exhs.").)

The court's decision stands in sharp conflict with the rest of the courts that have considered this issue, all of which correctly found that section 1747.08's plain language points to one inescapable conclusion: the Act does not apply to online transactions. (*Mehrens v. Redbox Automated Retail LLC* (C.D.Cal. Jan. 6, 2012, No. 11-2936) 2012 WL 77220 (*Mehrens*) [holding online transactions are not covered under the Act]; *Saulic v. Symantec Corp.* (C.D.Cal. 2009) 596 F.Supp.2d 1323 (*Saulic*)

[same]; *Salmonson v. Microsoft Corp.* (C.D.Cal. Jan. 6, 2012, No. 11-5449) 2012 WL 77217 [same, opinion vacated due to judge's subsequent recusal determination].)

The trial court's decision should be reversed for the following reasons:

First, the text of section 1747.08 demonstrates that the Legislature intended to regulate only in-person transactions when it drafted that statute in 1990-1991: While prohibiting the recordation of personal identification information, the statutory language specifically permits a retailer to inspect a customer's credit card and require photo identification, even allowing the retailer to record the cardholder's driver's license number or identification card number if the cardholder "does not make the credit card available upon request to verify the number . . . . " (§ 1747.08, subd. (d).) By contrast, the language of section 1747.08 is not compatible with online transactions, where there is no opportunity to inspect photo identification or to "request" the credit card. The Act's plain language has led every court—with the lone exception of the trial court here—to conclude that the Act does not apply to online transactions over the Internet.

Second, section 1747.08 establishes a delicate policy balance between privacy (i.e., the prohibition against the retailer's recordation of the customer's personal identification information where a credit card is physically presented upon request) and fraud prevention (e.g., the retailer's

authorization to require "reasonable forms of positive identification, which may include a driver's license," as long as "none of the information contained thereon is written or recorded"). (§ 1747.08, subd. (d).) This policy balance cannot be applied to online transactions: An online merchant not only cannot check a form of positive identification but cannot even inspect the credit card, including the name, signature or other information set forth thereon.

Third, rules of statutory construction argue against the application of section 1747.08 to online transactions because "[a] statute open to more than one interpretation should be interpreted so as to "avoid anomalous or absurd results." [Citations.] (*Pineda, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 533.) Here, applying section 1747.08 to online transactions would lead to the absurd result that e-retailers, which operate nationwide (if not international) websites, would have to violate the Act—that is, ask the customer to specify his or her address, in whole or in part—in order to even determine whether California law applies to the particular transaction in the first place. (See *Pineda*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 531 [holding that a component of an address, including a ZIP code, is personal identification information under the Act].) The Legislature never could have intended to force e-retailers into this Catch-22 scenario when it passed the Act.

Moreover, applying the Act to online transactions would prohibit the merchant from requiring the online customer to provide *any* personal

identification information in order to verify the purported cardholder's identity, which would greatly facilitate online fraud, resulting in harm to the very consumers whom section 1747.08 is intended to protect. The Legislature, which expressly granted brick-and-mortar merchants the right to require positive forms of identification to verify the cardholder's identity, clearly did not intend to strip retailers of *any right* to verification in online transactions.

Fourth, the legislative history of the Song-Beverly Act further confirms that the Legislature did not intend it to govern online transactions. The Act was enacted in 1971, at a time when the idea of the Internet, much less purchasing music from the cloud on iTunes, would have seemed like the whimsy of a science fiction novelist. When section 1747.08 was added in 1990, internet commerce did not even exist. Instead, the legislative history of section 1747.08 reveals that the Legislature was exclusively focused on the collection of personal identification information in in-person transactions in the brick-and-mortar retail context. The statutory language reflects this intent.

<u>Fifth</u>, the rule of statutory construction of pari materia, by which statutes relating to the same subject matter should be construed together, supports the conclusion that the Legislature did not intend section 1747.08 to apply to online transactions. California has a separate statutory scheme that governs the collection of personal identification information in online

commercial transactions. Under the California Online Privacy Protection Act, the Legislature required commercial websites that collect personally identifiable information from California consumers (defined as those who seek or acquire goods, services, money, or credit) to post on their website their privacy policy concerning their practice of collecting personal information. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 22575 et seq.) The Legislature enacted the law during its 2003-2004 session because "[e]xisting law does not directly regulate the privacy practice[s] of online business entities." (Sen. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 68 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) as amended Sept. 3, 2003, p. 1.) Construed together, this statutory scheme and section 1747.08 reflect the legislative intent to apply the broader and more flexible provisions of the California Online Privacy Protection Act, not the Song-Beverly Act, to online commercial transactions.

<u>Finally</u>, applying the Song-Beverly Act to online transactions with merchants which conduct interstate business creates a significant risk of violating both the due process clause and commerce clause of the United States Constitution. It is a well-settled principle of statutory construction that "a statute must be construed, if reasonably possible, in a manner that avoids a serious constitutional question." (*People v. Engram* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1131, 1161.) But if section 1747.08 is applied to online transactions, an out-of-state merchant must violate the Act by asking the customer to specify his or her address in whole or in part in order to receive

notice that California law applies. This is the converse of due process: violation first; notice (and lawsuits) second. Moreover, if the Act applies to online transactions, it may apply to e-retailers throughout the United States and the world who transact business with California residents. Since the residence of any customer will be unknown until he or she provides personal identification information, in order to comply with the Song-Beverly Act, those e-retailers must either refrain from recording any such information from any customer, thereby making California's standard the national standard, or refrain from engaging in interstate commerce with California residents, who in any event cannot be identified without first violating the Act. Either way, the Act "imposes a substantial burden on interstate commerce which outweighs its putative local benefits" in violation of the commerce clause. (Edgar v. MITE Corp. (1982) 457 U.S. 624, 643.)

In short, the trial court's decision to apply section 1747.08 to online transactions (1) conflicts with the statutory language and the carefully balanced legislative policy embodied in section 1747.08's text, (2) threatens to produce unintended and absurd results, (3) cannot be reconciled with the statute's legislative history (since online transactions did not exist at the time of its enactment and involve policy considerations never contemplated), (4) construes the statute in a manner which raises serious questions regarding its constitutionality under the due process and

commerce clauses, and (5) conflicts with all of the other decisions on this issue. Accordingly, Apple respectfully requests that this Court reverse the trial court's decision overruling its demurrer.

#### III. PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Apple is the defendant in *Krescent v. Apple Inc.*, Los Angeles Superior Court Case BC 463305 (the "Apple Action"). Ticketmaster LLC is the defendant in *Luko v. Ticketmaster, Inc.*, Los Angeles Superior Court Case BC 462492 (the "Ticketmaster Action"). eHarmony, Inc. is the defendant in *Luko v. eHarmony, Inc.*, Los Angeles Superior Court Case BC 462494 (the "eHarmony Action"). All three cases allege a sole cause of action for violation of section 1747.08.

The complaint against Apple alleges that the plaintiff, David Krescent, purchased media downloads from Apple. (Exh. 3 at p. 26.) All elements of the transaction, including the delivery of media to the plaintiff, were accomplished over the Internet. (*Id.* at p. 27.) Plaintiff alleges that as a condition of receiving those downloads and "in order to complete his credit card purchase" using Apple's "pre-printed form" (i.e. its iTunes website interface), he was required to provide his address and telephone number, and that Apple records such "personal identification information." (*Id.* at pp. 26–27.) The complaint further speculates that Apple is not contractually obligated to provide an address or telephone number in order to complete a credit card transaction. (*Id.* at p. 27.) Based on these

allegations—which would apply to most, if not all, credit card transactions on the Internet—plaintiff, individually and on behalf of a class of similarly situated individuals, claims that Apple has violated section 1747.08 and seeks statutory damages of \$250 for each primary violation and \$1,000 for each subsequent violation. (*Id*, at p. 29.)

On June 30, 2011, the trial court related the Apple, Ticketmaster, and eHarmony Actions. On September 9, 2011, Apple, Ticketmaster, and eHarmony separately demurred to their respective complaints. Apple argued that plaintiff's claim failed as a matter of law because the Song-Beverly Act does not regulate online transactions. (Exh. 15 at p. 268.)<sup>3</sup>

On December 7, 2011, the court issued an omnibus order overruling the three demurrers. The court stated that while Apple's arguments "have definite appeal," it was "not prepared, at the pleading stage, to read the Act as completely exempting online credit transactions" because "the Act itself is silent" on that point, and the Court's decision in *Pineda* did not distinguish between online transactions and "brick and mortar" ones. (Exh. 30 at pp. 579–81.) The trial court concluded that "until the legislature specifically exempts online credit card transactions from the purview of the Act, the Court will not (and cannot) read such a provision into the statute." (*Id.* at p. 581.) The trial court certified the matter for interlocutory review under Code of Civil Procedure section 166.1.

The defendants in the related cases made similar arguments.

On January 5, 2012, the Court of Appeal summarily denied Apple's, Ticketmaster's, and eHarmony's petitions for interlocutory review of the trial court's order.

On March 14, 2012, this Court granted Apple's, Ticketmaster's, and eHarmony's petitions for review. On March 28, 2012, this Court designated Apple as the lead case and deferred further action on the Ticketmaster and eHarmony cases.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. Section 1747.08's Text Indicates That The Legislature Did Not Intend To Apply It To Online Transactions.

"The fundamental task of statutory construction is to 'ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. [Citations.] In order to determine this intent, [the courts] begin by examining the language of the statute." (*People v. Cruz* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 774–775.) "[A] court begins with the words of the statute, because they generally provide the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (*Hsu v. Abbara* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 863, 871.)

"But the 'plain meaning' rule does not prohibit a court from determining whether the literal meaning of a statute comports with its purpose or whether such a construction of one provision is consistent with other provisions of the statute. The meaning of a statute may not be determined from a single word or sentence; the words must be construed in

context, and provisions relating to the same subject matter must be harmonized to the extent possible. [Citation.] Literal construction should not prevail if it is contrary to the legislative intent apparent in the statute. The intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act. [Citations.]" (Lungren v. Deukmejian (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735 (Lungren).)

Finally, "if a statute is amenable to two alternative interpretations, the one that leads to the more reasonable result will be followed [citation]." (Lungren, supra, 45 Cal.3d at p. 735.)

The plain language of section 1747.08, read as a whole, shows that the Legislature never intended it to apply to online transactions. Section 1747.08 provides in relevant part:

- (a) Except as provided in subdivision (c), no person, firm, partnership, association, or corporation that accepts credit cards for the transaction of business shall do any of the following:
- (1) Request, or require as a condition to accepting the credit card as payment in full or in part for goods or services, the cardholder to write any personal identification information upon the credit card transaction form or otherwise.
- (2) Request, or require as a condition to accepting the credit card as payment in full or in part for goods or services, the cardholder to provide personal identification information, which the person, firm, partnership, association, or corporation accepting the credit card writes, causes to be written, or otherwise records upon the credit card transaction form or otherwise.

- (3) Utilize, in any credit card transaction, a credit card form which contains preprinted spaces specifically designated for filling in any personal identification information of the cardholder.
- (b) For purposes of this section "personal identification information," means information concerning the cardholder, other than information set forth on the credit card, and including, but not limited to, the cardholder's address and telephone number.

# (c) [omitted]

(d) This section does not prohibit any person, firm partnership, association, or corporation from requiring the cardholder, as a condition to accepting the credit card as payment in full or in part for goods or services, to provide reasonable forms of positive identification, which may include a driver's license or a California state identification card, or where one of these is not available, another form of photo identification, provided that none of the information contained thereon is written or recorded on the credit card transaction with a credit card number and does not make the credit card available upon request to verify the number, the cardholder's driver's license number or identification card number may be recorded on the credit card transaction form or otherwise.

# (§ 1747.08, subds. (a)–(d); italics added.)

First, the overall structure of section 1747.08, read as a whole, reflects a legislative intent to effectuate a delicate policy balance between privacy protections and fraud prevention. On the one hand, the statute prohibits merchants' collection of "information unnecessary to the sales transaction" (*Pineda*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 532), but on the other, authorizes the retailer to require the customer to "provide reasonable forms of positive identification, which may include a driver's license," as "a

condition to accepting the credit card as payment" as long as the information is not recorded (§ 1747.08, subd. (d)). Moreover, where the cardholder "does not make the credit card available upon request to verify the number," the retailer has the right to request and record the cardholder's driver's license number or identification card number. (*Ibid.*) Moreover, in all cases, the retailer is permitted to record any "information set forth on the credit card," which is excluded from the scope of "personal identification information." (*Id.*, subd. (b).)

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