MAY 31 2012

S199384

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

APPLE INC., a California Corporation,

Petitioner,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent

DAVID KRESCENT, individually and on behalf of a class of persons similarly situated

Real Party in Interest

Court of Appeal Case No. B238097 Los Angeles Superior Court Civil Case No. BC463305 (Related to Cases Nos. BC462492 and BC462494)

REAL PARTY IN INTEREST DAVID KRESCENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SCHREIBER & SCHREIBER, INC.

Edwin C. Schreiber, SBN 41066

Eric A. Schreiber, SBN 194851

16501 Ventura Boulevard Suite 401

Encino, California 91436-2068

Telephone: (818) 789-2577

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

Therefore, the mere fact that the Legislature could not, in 1991, possibly have even dreamed of the significance of Internet commerce today, does not mean that such transactions are not covered by the Act. The Legislature could have limited the Act, and could have stated the Act does not apply to any transaction where the merchant does not actually physically obtain the credit card (or to simply exempt remote or card not present transactions), yet the Legislature deliberately chose not to do so, instead opting for as broad a protection as possible. Thus, even though Internet commerce did not exist in any realistic form when the Act was passed, does not mean that a more technologically advanced form of a purchase transaction is excluded.

VII. THE PURPOSES AND PROTECTIONS OF THE ACT WOULD BE EVISCERATED FOR MILLIONS OF CALIFORNIA CONSUMERS IF INTERNET RETAILERS ARE CARTE BLANCHE EXEMPTED FROM THE ACT

1. Exempting Internet Businesses Would Destroy Consumer Protection and is an Overreaching Solution to the Identity Theft and Credit Card Fraud Problem

Admittedly, credit card fraud and identity theft are problems of great concern. However, of equal concern is overreaching by merchants seeking far too much information for their own marketing or other business purposes. Apple is, if anything, disingenuous in its request for complete exemption from the Act, when a limited purpose information request (e.g. the right to request **only** as much information as is actually required to verify a credit card, and nothing more, and using such information only for that purpose and no other) will satisfy the goals of fraud and identity theft protection, much like the gas station exception.⁷ It is possible that credit card verification would fall under

It should be noted that in opposition to the demurrer, by and through an offer of proof, to support an amended complaint if necessary, Plaintiff's counsel submitted a declaration stating that he did not believe that Apple or any other business currently uses a phone number to verify a credit card under any circumstance. This assertion was based upon research done with credit card processing companies. While this does not rise to the level of evidence presented at trial, it without question presents some evidentiary support that companies

the exception to the Act provided in subsection (c)(3)(a) (required by contract), or (c)(4) (required for a special purpose incidental but related to the transaction), however these exceptions are factual questions. Apple, like any other defendant would have the burden of proving by actual evidence that a business actually needs and uses each specific piece of information requested (e.g. telephone number, address, zip code only, etc.) for credit card verification, and uses such PII only for that purpose and no other. Naturally, if the (c)(3)(a) or (c)(4) exceptions to the Act were read to permit credit card verification as necessary to complete the transaction, it would not be the proper subject of demurrer and would require an evidentiary hearing or trial to determine what, if any, information each business uses for credit card verification, and that each piece of information requested or required is actually used for the purpose of credit card verification, and nothing else.

If Internet businesses are deemed wholly exempt from the Act, then they will be able to request any information from credit card consumers they wish, including not only information such as address and phone number, but also

do not simply ask for consumers' personal information solely for credit card verification and no other purpose, because it appears phone numbers are not used for credit card verification. Naturally if Internet based companies request, require and record information such as a phone number which is unnecessary to verify the credit card, they have without question violated the Act. (Exh. 21, pgs. 388-390).

sensitive information such as social security numbers, maiden names, or a whole host of other personal information absolutely unnecessary to the simple purpose of buying a good or service on-line. This would also allow the business to do anything it wishes with the information, including marketing, sharing with partners, or even selling the information to the highest bidder. Without the protections of the Act, credit card consumers would face the Hobson's choice of providing an Internet retailer with a host of personal information the retailer does not need, knowing the retailer can make any use of the information it wishes if the consumer chooses to make a purchase from an on-line retailer.

2. Exempting Internet Businesses from the Act Would Lead to Inconsistent, Unfair and Absurd Results for California Consumers

Why should a consumer give up all of his or her rights of privacy simply because he or she chooses to shop from the convenience of a computer as opposed to driving to a retail store? A purchase of goods or services from an Internet retailer is still the same basic transaction as a retail store, the consumer pays money for goods or services. The following hypotheticals illustrate how unfair it would be to permit merchants who use the Internet to be exempt from the Act:

A customer wishes to purchase the identical shirt with his or her credit card from a department store which sells via retail stores, a phone/fax catalog,

and an Internet website:

- 1. The customer can walk into the store and purchase the shirt with his or her credit card. It is beyond question that the retail store would not be permitted to ask the customer for his or her telephone number or address prior to payment via credit card, regardless of reason (*see Florez v. Linens n' Things* (2003) 108 Cal. App.4th 447);
- 2. The customer can place a phone or facsimile order for the shirt from the store's catalog. As written, the Act forbids the retail store from asking for a phone number or address, however, the address may very well qualify under the "special purpose" exception found in (<u>Civil Code</u> § 1747.08 (c)(4)), as the store needs an address to ship the shirt.
- 3. The customer can visit the retailer's Internet commercial web site and order the shirt on-line. As written, the Act forbids the retailer from asking for a phone number or address, however, the address may very well qualify under the "special purpose" exception found in (<u>Civil Code</u> § 1747.08 (c)(4)), as the merchant needs an address to ship the shirt.

Under scenarios 2 and 3, unless the retailer's credit card processing company requires the retailer to provide a billing phone number for security and the transaction cannot be completed without it, there is no valid reason for the retailer to ask the customer for his or her phone number. Indeed, even Apple must concede that it cannot ask for an address or phone number from

any credit card consumer who makes a purchase in one of Apple's numerous retail stores. The need for personal information is far less compelling in Apple's web site situation since every on-line purchase is downloaded, and there is no need to have any physical goods shipped to an address.

Take a second hypothetical, a customer in a retail store has the right to either make a purchase at a cashier, or use the self-checkout line (many stores now have devices where a consumer can scan items and pay directly without the use of a cashier to process their transaction at all).

- 1. It is without question that a cashier cannot ask the customer for a phone number or address in line with a credit card purchase;
- 2. What if after using a self-checkout, the computer asks the customer to input his or her phone number and address on the computer screen before paying with a credit card?

The transaction in scenario 2 (self checkout with a personal information request) is still in a brick and mortar store, yet there is no opportunity for a cashier to "verify" the card by the request for a driver's license, or to "inspect" the purchase to see if something appears wrong. If anything, a self-checkout is virtually identical to an Internet purchase—it is a purchase that is not made face to face, but is made through a computer interface. Thus, the place of purchase (whether in store or over a computer) cannot be, in and of itself, conclusive of a merchant's right to request information. If certain information

is necessary for credit card verification, it is likely exempt under the statute, however, if the information requested exceeds what the merchant needs to complete the transaction, the Act is violated.

Exempting Internet businesses from the Act would lead to absurd and unfair results. Under hypothetical 1, the same consumer buying the same item from the same retailer using the same credit card would in the case of having to drive to the store, be able to make his or her purchase without providing the merchant information the merchant did not need to complete the transaction, yet, should the consumer chose to purchase the identical item at home, then the consumer would be required to provide the merchant with a host of personal information, even information the merchant clearly does not need to process and complete the transaction. It is understandable that a remote transaction may require providing some more information to verify the credit card, but clearly not to the extent most merchants request. For example, suppose (as Plaintiff has plead in the complaint), the merchant's website does not need or use the consumers telephone number or address to verify the credit card. Providing this unnecessary information serves no purpose other than to build the merchant's marketing list, and possibly line its pockets by selling or If Internet businesses are exempt, then all bartering the information. consumers who chose the convenience of on-line shopping are required to trade their privacy for such convenience.

3. Internet Businesses Like all Businesses Who Engage in Card-Not-Present Transactions Have a Whole Host of Remedies to Verify Credit Cards

Generally, a merchant processing a remote transaction is offered a whole host of verification checkpoints exclusive of personal information when processing a transaction including: 1. The card number; 2. The expiration date; 3. The cardholder's name (or name on the credit card) and 4. The CCID. In some circumstances, possibly more information may be needed or used to verify the credit card, yet, as this is a demurrer, there is no evidence in the record to support any claims that Apple or any other merchant, actually uses PII to verify credit cards or prevent identity theft or fraud.

4. There are Also Social Policy Concerns Relating to Businesses' Recording of Consumer Information, Causing as Much Concern as Identity Theft

The Legislature has already conducted a careful balancing when passing the Act, and it has decided the amount of information a business may request and record—only as much as is absolutely necessary to complete the transaction, and nothing more. While Apple may offer concern that information is necessary to prevent identity theft, there are equal policy concerns regarding any business' retention of significant amounts of consumer information:

A. The concern of security hacks at the business level

The news is filled with recent articles of major corporations having their data hacked and countless pieces of consumer personal information stolen. For example, a recent article notes massive hacker attacks on large companies such as Citigroup, Google and Sony, resulting in the theft of millions of consumers' information (Los Angeles Times, Tiffany Hsu, March 31, 2012, Page B2 Breach of Credit Card Data Feared). Without question there is a danger to corporate retention of consumer information, as corporate files are a large storehouse of information, that, if hacked, allows criminals (or dishonest employees) to efficiently obtain data on large numbers of consumers at once, rather than having to steal information on an individual basis. Therefore, while Apple suggests that it needs information to combat identity theft and fraud (a claim vigorously disputed by Plaintiff), in fact, retention of data centrally stored serves as a treasure trove of information ripe for theft by criminals.

B. Merchants may misuse the data once they have it

A recent Los Angeles Times article may sum up consumers' fears best:

The vast majority of Californians surveyed in a state-wide poll are worried about the data collected by Internet and smartphone companies, and most said they distrust even firms known for their ardent fans and tens of millions of daily users. . . . [the] poll also said they were wary of firms collecting personal information without their knowledge and were concerned that personal data could become public or be harvested to sell them products. (**Los Angeles Times**, David Sarno, April 1, 2012, Page 1, Californians Wary of Data Gathering).

Another goal of the Act is to prevent not only the acquisition of consumer information, but the misuse (such as marketing purposes) as well. Consumers are often given a Hobson's choice when purchasing from an Internet retailer—provide significant amounts of personal information in order to obtain the good or service desired, or walk away from the transaction. It is no secret that the consumer is likely to be bombarded by emails, mailed solicitations, or possibly calls at home all seeking future business. Perhaps this information will also be sold or bartered with the merchant's "preferred partners," or simply sold to the highest bidder(s).

Targeted consumer information is a valuable commodity. While a consumer may wish to provide this information voluntarily (e.g. in exchange for coupons, to join a discount club, or perhaps they wish to receive future offers), it is unfair to require PII be provided when it is unnecessary. For example, as was discussed in *Gass v. Best Buy Co., Inc.* WL 538251(C.D. Cal Feb. 2012),

Plaintiffs explain to the Court that customers' PII is valuable. Plaintiffs quote FTC Commissioner Pamela Jones Harbour as follows: "Many consumers cannot begin to comprehend the types and amount of information collected by businesses, or why their information may be commercially valuable. Data is currency. The larger the data set, the greater potential for analysis—and profit."

Arguably the situation presented in this case is precisely what the California Legislature intended. Before the Act, companies could gather PII from their customers for free, by conditioning the completion of a

credit card transaction on the customer's provision of PII. After the passage of the Act, a business that wishes to collect PII from its customers must give the customer some incentive to provide it. Many companies have done what Best Buy has chosen to do-offer to essentially "buy" PII from customers for coupons and discounts. Many customers will decide this is a worthwhile trade and provide their PII willingly. Other customers will decide to safeguard their PII and refuse the offer. (*Id.* at *12, fn. 7).

Consumer privacy can and will be violated if Internet merchants are exempt from the Act. A consumer should not be forced to walk away from a transaction solely because he or she does not want to be bombarded with future marketing efforts, or the knowledge that their private information may very well end up in the hands of various other companies. This is why the Act exists, and this is why the Court must also hold that it applies to Internet based businesses.

VIII. APPLE'S CLAIMS BASED UPON OTHER CALIFORNIA

STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGES ARE RAISED

FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL AND WERE THUS WAIVED.

FURTHERMORE, SUCH CLAIMS DO NOT PREEMPT THE ACT OR

OTHERWISE EXEMPT INTERNET BUSINESSES

Apple offers two theories for the first time on appeal, (1) that COPPA occupies the issue of Internet information requests, and (2) that there are Constitutional challenges to applying the Act to Internet businesses. At the outset, Apple did not offer these theories in its demurrer presented to the Trial

Court (Exh. 25, pgs. 410-427). Therefore, as arguments offered for the first time on appeal, they are waived and cannot be advanced for the first time in this Court (*Western Oil & Gas Assn. v. Monterey Bay Unified Air Pollution Control District* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 408, 427, fn. 20). It should be noted with regards to the Constitutional issues, in its reply brief in support of its demurrer, Apple stated,

However unwise such a decision may be, Defendants reserve, but do not challenge in this demurrer, the Legislature's powers to impose regulations such as the Act on internet retailers. This demurrer simply asks the Court to follow the Legislature's intent, and Plaintiffs' contention that the Legislature *could* have chosen to apply the Act to internet retailers does not mean that the Legislature intended to do so. (Exh. 25, pg. 421, emphasis in original).

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